#### ABSTRACT

Title of Document:	THE PROATHEROGENIC ROLE OF THE TRPV4 CALCIUM-PERMEABLE CHANNEL IN MACROPHAGES
	Michael Merth, Master of Science, 2016
Directed By:	Professor Shaik O. Rahaman Department of Nutrition and Food Science

Atherosclerosis is a multi-faceted chronic disease and one of the leading causes of cardiovascular diseases which attribute to 28.2% of all-cause mortality worldwide. Central tenets of atherogenesis are macrophage passage and transformation to foam cells. It is known that numerous macrophage membrane proteins regulate this process by controlling properties such as migration and binding and uptake of oxidized lipids. The focus of this study is to identify mechanisms by which the transient receptor potential (TRP) channel of the vanilloid subfamily, TRPV4, a calcium-permeable channel, regulates proatherogenic macrophage functions. The findings show TRPV4 is expressed and functional in macrophages, TRPV4 modulates macrophage migratory characteristics, oxidized low density lipoprotein (oxLDL) uptake and foam cell formation is reliant on TRPV4-elicited Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, and the physiological inflammatory stimulus of lipopolysaccharide can mediate TRPV4 function. These results identified previously unknown components to macrophage migration and foam cell development. Collectively, these discoveries associate the TRPV4 channel with atherogenesis by identifying new regulators for macrophage phagocytosis and migration that are essential to atherosclerosis development.

### THE PROATHEROGENIC ROLE OF THE TRPV4 CALCIUM-PERMEABLE CHANNEL IN MACROPHAGES

By

Michael Merth

### Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science 2016

Advisory Committee: Professor Shaik O. Rahaman, Chair Professor David K. Y. Lei Professor Debabrata Biswas © Copyright for text only, but not content, figures, or data by Michael Merth 2016

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the faculty and staff of the Department of Nutrition and Food Science for the opportunity to advance my education. Specifically, I am immensely grateful for the invaluable guidance and encouragement of Dr. Shaik O. Rahaman throughout the research process. I appreciate all of my colleague's support in Rahaman Lab (Rishov, Shweta, and Jon) as well as the resources provided by the Aranda-Espinoza Lab (Dr. Espinoza and Katrina). I would also like to thank my graduate committee, Dr. Lei and Dr. Biswas, for their contributions and support. Finally, I am especially indebted to all my friends at NFSC: Rishov, Janice, and Megan, I owe you one.

# Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Figures	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	3
Atherosclerosis	3
Low-Density Lipoprotein (LDL)	4
Macrophages	5
Macrophage Type	5
Macrophage Signaling	6
Macrophage Migration	6
Macrophage Phagocytosis	8
Macrophage Calcium Signaling	9
Macrophage Stiffness	
Macrophage Foam Cells	11
Atherosclerotic Plaques	12
Porphyromonas gingivalis LPS-induced Atherosclerosis	14
TRPV4	14
TRPV4 Structure	15
TRPV4 Activation	15
TRPV4 Functional Pathways	16
Chapter 3: Research Objectives	
Research Aims	
Impacts	
Chapter 4: Materials and Methods	
Cell Culture and Reagents	
Intracellular Calcium Ion Influx	
Scratch Assay	20
Time-Lapse Microscopy	20
Oil Red O Foam Cell Assay	21
oxLDL Binding and Uptake Assay	21
Statistics	22
Chapter 5: Results	23
TRPV4 is expressed and functional in RAW Cells	23
TRPV4 modulates macrophage migration over 24 hours	
TRPV4 modulates macrophage migratory characteristics over 6 hours	25
TRPV4 influences macrophage migration patterns under varied stiffness matrices	27
Macrophage foam cell formation is reliant on TRPV4-elicited Ca <sup>2+</sup> influx	
TRPV4-elicited Ca <sup>2+</sup> influx in not required for oxLDL binding to macrophages	
TRPV4-elicited Ca <sup>2+</sup> influx regulates oxLDL uptake in macrophages	31
pgLPS stimulates TRPV4-mediated Ca <sup>2+</sup> influx	
Chapter 6: Discussion	
Chapter 7: Submitted Abstracts	
Bibliography	

# **List of Figures**

**Figure 1:** TRPV4 Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx functional response in RAW cells.

Figure 2: Qualitative and quantitative findings of RAW cell scratch assay.

Figure 3: Raw cell migration characteristics influenced by TRPV4 inhibition.

Figure 4: Raw cell migration characteristics influenced by substrate stiffness.

Figure 5: TRPV4 functional phagocytosis Oil Red O stain assay.

Figure 6: Effects of TRPV4 antagonist on RAW cell DiI-oxLDL binding.

Figure 7: Effects of TRPV4 antagonist on RAW cell DiI-oxLDL uptake.

**Figure 8:** RAW cell  $Ca^{2+}$  influx with and without the presence of pgLPS and GSK219.

### Chapter 1: Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the number one cause of death in the US, and atherosclerosis is the most dominant underlying pathology (1). The impacts of atherosclerosis are far-reaching, but the two major forms of cardiovascular disease affected by atherosclerosis include ischemic heart disease and cerebrovascular disease. Together, these diseases are the leading causes of death worldwide, representing 84.5% of cardiovascular-related deaths and 28.2% of all-cause mortality (2).

Over the last few decades, preventative and corrective methods with tenuous and often risky therapeutic drug trials have exposed the need for a better understanding of the innate immune system's role in atherosclerosis. Despite the profound impacts of atherosclerosis on Western societies, many of the underlying mechanisms of atherogenesis are poorly understood. One particular area of study includes identifying the contributory role of macrophages in this complex pathogenesis.

Studies have shown that atherosclerosis is closely related to macrophage infiltration, sequestration, and the development of foam cells (3-9). Macrophage phagocytosis of oxidized low density lipoprotein (oxLDL) causes the formation of lipid-laden foam cells that are typically abundant during the development of atherosclerosis (3-6). This process has shown to be exacerbated by the presence of physiological inflammatory stimuli, such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS), yet the exact mechanisms whereby LPS can contribute to atherosclerosis remain elusive (10-12).

Multiple macrophage functions require  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, including migration and phagocytosis (9, 13-15). The presence of macrophages and foam cells are vital to atherogenesis (5); therefore, macrophage migration and subsequent foam cell formation via phagocytosis are critical calcium-

dependent atherogenic processes. A significant gap in the research is a comprehensive understanding of the role calcium channels play in macrophage foam cell formation and migration.

Recent pathological findings revealed interesting properties of the transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member 4 (TRPV4) calcium-permeable channel, which may indicate a fundamental role in the regulation of atherosclerotic macrophage functioning (12, 16-22). It primarily functions as a Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx channel activated by mechanosensitive and chemosensitive signaling pathways. TRPV4 is well-documented to be ubiquitously expressed in many different cell types, including macrophages, and operates in various functional and pathological models (12, 16). Through the role of TRPV4, macrophage intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> flux may be modulated by unknown chemical or endogenous stimuli or changes to the arterial stiffness; therefore, we intend to investigate the channel's role in atherogenesis. We will test the hypothesis that the TRPV4 channel contributes multiple proatherogenic properties by determining a role for TRPV4 in atherosclerotic macrophage migration and foam cell formation.

To support the hypothesis, in vitro experimentation was performed on RAW cell line mouse macrophages. In vitro mouse cell models were chosen for the initial trials in order to build a strong foundation for future research. The potential outcomes from this study design can guide forthcoming in vivo and human cell models.

### Chapter 2: Literature Review

### Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is a chronic vascular disease of the arterial wall and a major precursor to a variety of serious cardiovascular diseases such as coronary artery disease, stroke, and peripheral artery disease. The atherosclerotic process, also known as atherogenesis, develops slowly over decades, through an assorted sequence of inflammatory and biochemical events resulting in the narrowing of the arterial lumen (3). The disease can affect nearly any part of the arterial network but are most frequently observed in high-pressure vessels such as the coronary, renal, femoral, cerebral, and carotid arteries (23). The atherosclerotic lesions develop and progress through a complex inflammatory process involving the corroboration of immune cells, blood components, and lipoproteins within the arterial wall (24-26). In general, the process is associated with a state of heightened oxidative stress leading to the sequestration, oxidation, and modification of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) within the arterial walls and subsequent foam cell formation (4); this process results in atheromata and vascular dysfunction (27).

The precise pathological progression that leads healthy arteries to atherosclerotic lesion formation is multifaceted and not fully understood. Pioneering theories purported "response-toinjury" hypothesis. The supposition of this model states an initial insult (e.g., smoking, hypertension, dyslipidemia) to the vascular endothelium with successive membrane dysfunction is required in promoting atherogenesis (28, 29). A revised and more modern perspective, the "response-to-retention hypothesis," argues that subendothelial retention of atherogenic lipoproteins are critical to the pathological instigation opposed to permeability alone (30). Although known sources of endothelial insult alter permeability and can play a contributory role,

atherogenesis requires that the permeated lipoproteins are retained in the subendothelial space (31-33).

### Low-Density Lipoprotein (LDL)

Damage to the endothelium is associated with the infiltration and accumulation of the atherogenic blood plasma LDL into the subendothelial space (30, 34). LDL is a water soluble transport particle with a surface monolayer primarily of phospholipids and apolipoprotein-B (ApoB) and functions as a major transporter of nonpolar lipids in the hydrophobic core (35). Circulating LDL can vary in size. As very low-density lipoprotein (vLDL) is converted to LDL through the hydrolysis of internal triglycerides by lipoprotein lipase (LPL), the release of free fatty acids results in a larger percentage of internalized cholesterol, which in turn increases the particle density. As this process continues, there is an increase in the production of small dense LDL (sdLDL) particles which have a greater susceptibility to the passage, sequestration, and oxidation between the endothelium monolayer (36-38).

After passage into the subendothelial space, LDL can become trapped in the extracellular matrix (ECM) where it is highly prone to oxidation through an assortment of biochemical modifications to form the extremely atherogenic oxidized LDL (oxLDL) (24, 39). It's worth noting that the pathologic lipoprotein oxidation primarily occurs only after the subendothelial retention because serum LDL is markedly protected by plasma protein and/or recycled quickly to the liver if modified (40, 41).

Mediators inducing LDL oxidation include reactive oxygen species (ROS) as well as lipases and enzymes secreted by endothelial cells and immune cells such as macrophages including sphingomyelinase (SMase), lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 (Lp-LpA2), and myeloperoxidase (MPO) (42, 43). The oxLDL is a forceful promoter of inflammatory signaling

and an inhibitor of nitric oxide (NO) production within the vessel (44). The oxLDL correspondingly induces endothelial cells to secrete growth factor macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and the chemotactic protein monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP1) to recruit and transmigrate circulating plasma monocytes into the subendothelial space (35). As the monocytes pass into the subendothelial space they are further signaled by M-CSF to differentiate and transform into macrophages (45).

### *Macrophages*

### **Macrophage Type**

Macrophages are an essential component to atherosclerosis progression. Early stages of atherosclerosis are characterized by macrophage migration into the tunica intima, the innermost layer of an artery or vein, followed by an increase of proinflammatory cytokine expression (26). This state of chronic inflammation hinges on the interactions between the monocyte-derived macrophages and the lesion environment. Throughout this process, two types of macrophages, M1 and M2, emerge, but their regulation, phenotype, and contribution to cholesterol deposition are still under investigation (46).

Macrophages show a degree of plasticity and may differentiate interchangeably between M1 and M2 phenotypes under different environmental surroundings (47). M1 macrophages, also known as "killer macrophages," may be activated by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and interferon gamma (INF ) which subsequently promotes further inflammation and exacerbates atherosclerosis (48). Their proatherogenic role chiefly involves the secretion of high levels of inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-12 (IL-12) (48).

M2 macrophages typically have a constructive role throughout immune functions; however, they can also contribute to atherogenesis. M2 macrophages are primarily involved in

wound healing processes and tissue repair but are also participating in the production of the antiinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-10 (IL-10) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF-) to abrogate the initiation of immune system damage (46). M2 macrophages can reduce plaque buildup through the removal of cholesterol in the arterial wall, but during the uptake of oxLDL, as often the case in the atherogenic environment, M2 macrophages transform to foam cells, ultimately contributing to the atheroma lesion (46, 49).

#### **Macrophage Signaling**

Many inflammatory cytokines, including tumor necrosis factor- (TNF- ), interleuikin-1 (IL-1), and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 (MIP1), are released from activated macrophages to stimulate additional monocyte recruitment in the blood stream to the subendothelial space of the arterial walls (50). These cytokines stimulate endothelial cell expression of chemokines that signal to the associated monocyte receptor (50). The endothelial derived chemokines, vascular-cell-adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and intracellular-adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and their associated monocyte integrins, integrin 4 1 (VLA-4) and lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1), are critical signaling pathways to facilitate the binding and passage (diapedesis) of monocytes during early atherogenesis (51).

#### **Macrophage Migration**

Monocytes and macrophages are extremely motile cells able to move along 2dimentional (e.g., vessel walls) and 3-dimensional (e.g., extracellular space) complex environments with the abilities to alternate between amoeboid or mesenchymal-like migratory methods (52, 53). Microscopy has shown that macrophage migration follows an actin-dependent cycle of events beginning with an actin-rich membrane protrusion, followed by an integrinmediated attachment of the stabilized protrusion to the extracellular substrate, ending with myosin contracting on the actin filaments and rear adhesion site release (54, 55).

Before detachment, the intracellular actin-myosin motors produce contractile forces that are counter-balanced at the anchored location of the substrate (54, 55). The major macrophage protrusion is the lamellipodia, a sheet-like membrane extension, which is highly organized with branched actin filaments and the main site of cell-substrate adhesions (56). Actin polymerization at the plasma membrane is facilitated through the Arp2/3 complex and is essential for protrusive forces and persistent directional migration (56-59). The Arp2/3 complex usually remains in an inactive state and requires dynamic signaling through nucleation-promoting factors (NPFs) to initiate the construction of new filamentous F-actin structures (60, 61).

Macrophage migration requires traction force generation through a combination of exterior adhesiveness to the substrate and interior tension within the cytoskeleton (62). Rho proteins have shown a significant role in cell contractility and adhesion during macrophage migration through regulating integrin expression and myosin activity (63, 64). Efficient migration of macrophages requires directional persistence towards the attractant (e.g., chemoattractant or stiffness gradient). Macrophages obtain their persistence by partially limiting crosswise membrane extensions and promoting an actin-rich leading edge protrusion and adhesion stabilization (65).

Monocyte and macrophage chemotaxis involves cellular migration through the sensation of an external signal (e.g. chemoattractants) and the responding controlled formation of internal cytoskeletal mechanical forces. Chemotaxis can be complicated due to the role of specific cell surface receptors in the detection of an external chemical gradient and the subsequent intracellular signaling. In this process macrophages can detect specific chemoattractants and

migrate towards a positive external gradient (66). Atherosclerotic lesions secrete numerous inflammatory cytokines that recruit circulating plasma monocytes and macrophages to the injured area. When detected by the membrane receptors, specific cytokines stimulate downstream intracellular signaling to promote cytoskeletal remodeling and extension of the actin-rich protrusions towards the chemoattractant (67).

Similarly, cellular mechanotaxis guides cell movement at the cell-substrate interface but through increasing substrate stiffness gradients (68). Substrate stiffness appears to dramatically mediate macrophage cell shape and function by influencing the cytoskeleton network (69). Changes in morphology are driven by the interactions of the membrane adhesion sites and actin-myosin contractile forces upon the substrate (70, 71). As substrate stiffness increases, macrophages turn from rounded to polarized in what may be a mechanism to better probe a gradient environment of stiffness fluctuations (72). The substrate stiffness regulates, to some degree, the macrophage force generation during migration, and although the basic towing mechanics have been identified, there are still unknown factors affecting migration in the atherosclerotic environment (72, 73). Since TRPV4 mediates remodeling of actin-myosin structures and its activity is upregulated by increasing matrix stiffness, we hypothesize that macrophage migration may be dependent on TRPV4 activity.

### **Macrophage Phagocytosis**

Macrophages are primarily known for their role in the innate immune system. Their principal functions include migration and phagocytosis. These processes require swift actin cytoskeletal remodeling to produce membrane protrusions and contractile forces (74). Macrophage phagocytosis is an essential mechanism during atherogenesis used to engulf and internalize oxLDL and free lipid material (75). This process yields an abundance of cholesteryl

esters that are later hydrolyzed in endosomes resulting in internalized cholesterol, free fatty acids, and many cytoplasmic vesicles (75).

The recognition and internalization of oxLDL by specific plasma membrane scavenger receptors is a complex and critical component to atherosclerosis development (76, 77). The process involves synchronized coordination between scavenger receptors, oxLDL, and the surrounding extracellular matrix (ECM) to appropriately rearrange the macrophage cytoskeleton for particle engulfment (68, 72, 78). oxLDL is first recognized and taken up by macrophages through three primary scavenger receptors: SR-A, CD36, and CD68 (79). CD36 and SRA are the primary receptor proteins accounting for the largest proportion of macrophage uptake of oxLDL (80).

CD36 is an integral membrane protein on the surface of monocytes and macrophages that serve as a multi-ligand scavenger receptor essential for the endocytosis of oxLDL and subsequent foam cell formation (81). Past studies have implicated CD36 signal transduction pathways in involving the non-receptor tyrosine kinases of the src family and serine/threonine kinases of the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase family (82-84). More recently it's been shown that the cytoplasmic carboxy-terminal of CD36 associates with the Lyn and MEKK2 signaling complex during macrophage phagocytosis (15). Furthermore, CD36-dependent activation of JNK has proved to be necessary for oxLDL phagocytosis, while the inhibition of JNK and Src pathways decreases c-Jun phosphorylation and prohibits oxLDL uptake and foam cell formation (15).

### Macrophage Calcium Signaling

Macrophages have an intricate system of ion channels and membrane pumps that are responsible for regulating cellular  $Ca^{2+}$  flux (85). Although cytoplasmic  $Ca^{2+}$  signals can develop

through the release of intracellular ER stores, plasma membrane channel access dominates the potential ion pool (86).

 $Ca^{2+}$  second messenger signaling is vital for several macrophage functions, including cell differentiation and proliferation, apoptosis, migration, adhesion, and mediating inflammatory responses (8, 9). Moreover, recent research has shown specific  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent intracellular signaling to associate with phagocytosis and foam cell formation (9, 14, 15). The process is commonly initiated by direct ligand-receptor binding on the membrane surface followed by a receptor activation inducing channeled  $Ca^{2+}$  influx (74). Regarding macrophage functions, the flow of  $Ca^{2+}$  allows NPF stimulation of Arp2/3 that triggers actin polymerization (F-actin) and cytoskeleton remodeling; processes that permit for the construction of F-actin dominant engulfment and motility structures, such as lamellipodia or phagocytic cups (60, 61, 74). Interestingly, decreases in protrusion size and persistence lengths were shown from a loss of the S100A4 protein in macrophages (87). S100A4 is a  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent molecular regulator of myosin during macrophage chemotaxis (87).

#### **Macrophage Stiffness**

Atherosclerosis results in the hardening of the arterial walls and thus increases the microenvironment stiffness (88). Monocytes and macrophages are both capable of migrating through the blood vessel endothelium, and it is likely arterial stiffness affects the transmigration efficiency (89). Interestingly, it's been observed that macrophage phagocytosis proficiency is mediated by different substrate stiffness – preferring engulfment in stiff environments – and thus encouraging foam cell development (90).

A surmounting inflammatory cascade along with targeted macrophage and monocyte recruitment is characteristic of developing atherosclerosis and provides a dynamic

microenvironment for arterial wall structural remodeling (91). The endothelial monolayer is known to have an elasticity stiffness of ~0.5 kPa (92), but new atherosclerotic research using atomic force microscopy has shown a range of arterial stiffness that depends on the stage and location of the plaque. Tracqui et al. subdivided plaques into three distinct regions and measured the area stiffness. They concluded that the hypocellular fibrosis area with robust fibrotic material averaged a stiffness of 59.4 kPa, the cellular rich area colonized by smooth muscle cells (SMC) averaged a stiffness of 10.4 kPa, and the lipid-rich area abundant with foam cells and extracellular lipids averaged a stiffness of 5.5 kPa (88).

The stiffness of the cellular microenvironment has shown to regulate an assortment of fundamental cell functions such as migration, differentiation and proliferation, and recent experimental studies indicate changes in macrophage morphology in accordance to substrate stiffness (68, 72, 93). With increased stiffness, macrophages exhibit improved polarization, more protruding filopodia, more defined F-actin, and a larger presence of V integrins (68, 72). In addition, macrophage activation via LPS has shown to increase specific inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF-, IL-1, and IL-6) under stiffer matrices (12, 68, 72). These results indicate that macrophage phagocytosis and migration is likely contingent on environmental ECM stiffness, but the mechanosensing signaling mechanisms are yet to be determined.

### **Macrophage Foam Cells**

The continual uptake of oxLDL by macrophages produces lipid-laden foam cells. In an atherogenic environment, foam cells continue to grow through the persistent uptake of oxLDL and lipid material until oxidative stress, death receptor activation, prolonged activation of the ER stress pathways, or nutrient deprivation facilitates apoptotic signals and cell destruction (5, 6). Free cholesterol in the foam cell influences the ER to down-regulate LDL receptor production

and endogenous cholesterol synthesis through the suppression of the sterol-regulatory element binding pathway (SREBP) (94). In contrast, reducing ER stress has shown to shift macrophage differentiation from M2 toward the inflammatory M1 phenotype through the induction of highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) and apoA-1 cholesterol efflux receptors (46).

The development and perseverance of foam cells may be mitigated by the removal of the fatty contents by high-density lipoprotein (HDL), but in atherogenic conditions foam cell quantity and size overcome HDLs efferocytosis capacity (5). Free cholesterol, released from macrophage lysosomes or rehydrolyzed from cholesteryl esters, can migrate to the plasma membrane and efflux out of the cell via reverse cholesterol transport receptors, primarily ABCA1 and ABCG1 (95). But despite normal cholesterol esterification processes, to some degree, free cholesterol enriches the plasma membrane and enhances further inflammatory signaling (96).

The foam cell destruction leaves behind its lipid-laden contents (e.g., cholesterol, triglycerides, membrane remnants, and cholesterol esters) in the arterial wall, contributing to what is known as a "fatty streak" (7). This destruction further recruits additional monocytes to the injured location and continues the engulfment-death cycle. The continual accumulation of both active and remnant dead foam cells, combined with defective efferocytosis, form a growing lipid pool that over time becomes the foundation of an atherosclerotic plaque (5).

### Atherosclerotic Plaques

As macrophages and foam cells continue to proliferate, they secrete higher concentrations of cytokines that induce the propagation and migration of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) from the tunica media to the tunica intima (50). SMC lipid ingestion and secretion of collagen, elastin, and proteoglycans produce a protective cap of a fibrous matrix over the fatty streak, known as a

plaque (97). The atherosclerotic inflammatory process at low levels is relatively benign since the arterial lumen has other preservation methods; however when the plaque buildup exceeds the phagocytosis capacity, the lesions grow, and a necrotic core persists (98). Proatherogenic oxLDL and TNF- further promotes the death of macrophages, foam cells, and other plaque cells which rapidly advances the necrotic core expansion (3, 99). A mature plaque will thicken the endothelial lining, protrude into the lumen, reduce elasticity, and in some cases obstruct arterial blood flow (stenosis) (100). Over time, calcium accumulates into deposits and crystallizes in the outer layer of the plaque between the atheroma and the vessel wall, significantly hardening the artery (101).

Atherosclerotic plaques can be stable or unstable depending on the amount and strength of the SMC and ECM (102). Stable plaques are rich in ECM and SMC and tend to be relatively asymptomatic, while unstable plaques are abundant in macrophages and foams cells with a weak ECM foundation making it susceptible to rupture (103). Neighboring macrophages secrete TNFand NO that induces SMC apoptosis and ultimately weakening the plaque (104). Macrophages are further involved in thinning the fibrous cap by the release of protease-activated enzymes, macrophage-derived matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), that degrade specific ECM proteins (105).

A vulnerable plaque has the potential to rupture into a thrombus that can lead to an acute arterial occlusion. Any vascular occlusion has the potential to cause downstream oxygen and nutrient tissue starvation, causing serious cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction and stroke (24, 35, 106). Post-rupture, collagen and tissue factors induce a clotting cascade of platelet activation, adhesion, and aggregation at the rupture site that potentially creates an occlusive thrombus clot through coagulation (39).

### Porphyromonas gingivalis LPS-induced Atherosclerosis

Current epidemiological studies and experimental research have shown an association between periodontal disease and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, particularly with Porphyromonas gingivalis (Pg) infection (10, 11, 107). Pg is a gram-negative bacterium responsible for human periodontal disease in subgingival plaques (108). The bacterium can release powerful virulent factors, such as LPS, that can enter blood circulation and travel away from the periodontal cavity throughout the body (109). pgLPS actively induces immune system responses and activates inflammatory signaling pathways in a variety of cells (110); however, pgLPS mostly utilizes Toll-like Receptor 2 (TLR2) which allows some evasion of host immune recognition (111).

Experimental studies have given some plausible mechanisms that link pgLPS infection to atherosclerosis, but the precise role is still under investigation. These studies have shown that pgLPS infection increases oxidative modification of LDL, builds induction of MMPs, raises production of inflammatory cytokines, exacerbates endothelial cell death, and promotes lipid deposition within the arterial wall (110, 112-115). More current studies have shown that LPS dose-dependently increases macrophage oxLDL uptake and foam cell formation, an early event in atherosclerotic plaque development (12, 107, 115-117).

### TRPV4

Macrophage scavenger receptor proteins have an integral role in atherosclerosis, but additional membrane proteins are also likely to affect macrophage-dependent atherogenesis. The Transient Receptor Potential Cation Channel, Subfamily V, Member 4 (TRPV4) is a Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeable non-selective cation channel widely expressed in a variety of different cell types and tissues (16). The channel is involved in numerous physiological processes and cellular functions

which may suggest a pathological role in a dysfunctional environment (16); however, its contribution to atherosclerosis is not well understood.

### **TRPV4 Structure**

In humans, the TRPV4 gene is located on the 12q23-q24.1 chromosome with five possible splice variants (118). The TRPV4 protein consists of six transmembrane traversing helices and a permeable cation pore recognized to be between the fifth and sixths transmembrane passage (118). TRPV4 is also involved in various regulatory domains and protein-interaction sites including phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and Src homology 2 (SH2) recognition domains, putative protein kinase C (PKC) phosphorylation sites, and putative PDZ domains (16, 119). The transmembrane protein has an intracellular N-terminal believed to have six ankyrins (ANK) capable of protein-protein interactions, with the first ANK repeat in the near vicinity to a proline-rich domain responsible for the channels mechanosensing properties (16, 120-122). On the other end, the intracellular C-terminus contains many calmodulin (CAM) binding sites putatively involved in the Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent channel activation (122, 123).

#### **TRPV4** Activation

Activation of TRPV4 opens the membrane channel allowing the passage of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  into the cell. The process is possible through multiple stimulators, which include physical, chemical, mechanical, thermal, and endogenous stimuli (16). Synthetic pharmacologic TRPV4 agonists and antagonists have also been created over the last decade. Highly specific synthetic agonists used in research include 4 -phorbol 12,13-didecanoate, 4 -phorbol 12,13-dihexanoate, and the exceedingly potent GSK1016790A (GSK101) (18, 124). In the past, TRPV4 antagonists were relatively limited and unspecific, but recently small-molecule GSK2193874 (GSK219) has

shown to be a reliable, selective TRPV4 antagonist. GSK219 blocks TRPV4-mediated calcium influx as well as inhibits channel activation of recombinant TRPV4 currents (125).

TRPV4 activation through membrane stretching via hypotonicity, polarization, or shear stress is a slow progression but has proven to behave as a cellular mechanosensor (126). The TRPV4 mechano-stimuli are believed to be detected, in part, by intracellular phospholipase (PLA<sub>2</sub>), leading to the creation of arachidonic acid that is later metabolized to epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (127). Endogenous lipids, primarily the long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid endocannabinoid metabolite arachidonic acid, can trigger typical whole-cell currents in TRPV4 expressing cells (127). The activation by arachidonic acid has shown, through pharmacological blockers, the signaling cascade directly involves the epoxygenase pathway with epoxyeicosatrienoic acids stimulating TRPV4 in a membrane-delimited fashion (127).

Intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  can activate or inhibit TRPV4 activity depending on the internal ion concentration (123, 124). Inhibition arises with an increase of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  that initiates a  $Ca^{2+}$  dependent negative feedback and channel inactivation, but in low internal  $Ca^{2+}$  environments activation remains possible (123).

#### **TRPV4 Functional Pathways**

There is an incomplete understanding of the TRPV4 functional signaling pathway. It has been shown that TRPV4 functionally interacts with PACSIN3, a protein that modulates the subcellular localization of TRPV4 and is responsible for blocking dynamin-mediated endocytosis during vesicle trafficking (128). It has also been demonstrated that microtubule-associated protein 7 (MAP7) interacts with the TRPV4 C-terminus to form the mechanosensitive protein complex by connecting the channel to cytoskeletal microtubules (129). Furthermore, recent studies have observed that F-actin colocalizes with TRPV4 in dynamic membrane structures, and

variations in matrix stiffness induce cytoskeletal remodeling as well as TRPV4-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  flux (22, 130, 131).

# Chapter 3: Research Objectives

A relationship between TRPV4 and macrophage-mediated atherosclerosis has not been previously demonstrated, and the associated specific molecular mechanisms have not been determined. This study will test the hypothesis that the TRPV4 channel contributes multiple proatherogenic properties by determining a role for TRPV4 in atherosclerotic macrophage migration and foam cell formation.

### **Research** Aims

- Determine whether TRPV4 is expressed and functional in macrophages.
   a. Covering figures 1A-1D.
- Determine whether TRPV4 modulates macrophage migration.
   a. Covering figures 2A, 2B, 3A-3E, 4A-4C, 5A-5E, and 6A-6C.
- Determine if TRPV4 modulates macrophage foam cell formation.
   a. Covering figures 7A, 7B, 8A, 8B, 9A, and 9B.
- 4. Identify possible mechanisms by which inflammatory stimuli may regulate TRPV4elicited Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx.
  - a. Covering figures 10A and 10B.

### **Impacts**

Determining an association between TRPV4 properties and mechanisms and the

regulation of macrophage migration and foam cell formation will advance our knowledge of

atherogenesis and have significant therapeutic implications.

# Chapter 4: Materials and Methods

#### Cell Culture and Reagents

The initial cell culture models used RAW cells obtained from ATCC (Manassas, VA, USA). RAW cells are leukemia virus-transformed mouse macrophages which are frequently used in atherosclerosis research models. Cell culture growths and incubations were conducted at 37° C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours using RPMI-1640 culture media (Gibco) unless noted otherwise.

Small molecules GSK2193874 (GSK219), GSK1016790A (GSK101), and A23187 (A23) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) to act as TRPV4 agonists and antagonists. For all RAW cell experimentation, the specific antagonist GSK219 was used as a TRPV4 channel inhibitor and GSK101 as a TRPV4 channel stimulator.

The FLIPR Calcium 6 Assay kit, pgLPS, and Human LDL was purchased from Molecular Devices (Sunnyvale, CA, USA), InvivoGen (San Diego, CA, USA), and Stemcell Technologies (Vancouver, BC, Canada) respectively. Gibco cell culture media related reagents were obtained from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA) while all other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

### Intracellular Calcium Ion Influx

 $Ca^{2+}$  influx was measured by the FlexStation system (Molecular Devices) using the FLIPR Calcium 6 Assay Kit (Molecular Devices). RAW cells were initially prepped and incubated with 0.5% SCM-RPMI. The following day media was replaced by 1% BSA serumfree RPMI with select wells treated with/without various concentrations of oxLDL (10, 50, 100 µg/mL) and pgLPS (10, 100, 1000 ng/mL) prior to a second incubation. On the final day, select samples were treated with GSK219 and GSK101 following the addition of FLIPR Calcium 6 dye and 2.5 mM probenecid. The calcium sensitive dye is absorbed into the cell's cytoplasm during incubation. When the target is activated, intracellular calcium is released, binding with the dye, and creating a fluorescence signal. FlexStation analysis measured cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  fluctuations in relative fluorescence units and evaluated the results using F/F (max-min) according to Tsien et al. (132).

### Scratch Assay

Cell motility in relation to blocking the TRPV4 channel was first investigated regarding cell migration into an artificial wound introduced onto a confluent monolayer of RAW cells. A vertical scratch was made by scraping the middle of the cell monolayer with a p10 pipette tip. Designated wells were treated with GSK219 at various concentrations (NT, 1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 25  $\mu$ M). The cell migration was viewed using Zeiss Axio Observer microscope (10x phase contrast) after the initial scratch and again after 24 hours. Cells were kept at 37° C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> between viewings. The subsequent quantitative analysis was performed by counting a total number of migrated cells into the scratch after 24 hours under each condition.

### Time-Lapse Microscopy

Time-lapse microscopy was used to monitor individual cell migration on variable stiffness (0.5 kPa and 8.0 kPa) and with or without the presence of GSK219 (2  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M). RAW cells were cultivated to approximately 75% confluency on a polyacrylamide coverslip or customized stiffness gel-coated coverslips. Cell images were captured at 10-minute intervals using a temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> controlled microscope chamber with 20x objective over a 6-hour period. Cell tracking was gained through a manual tracking plugin from ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health), and further analysis of cell migration, to include velocity, distance, and trajectory was carried out using MatLab software (Natick, MA).

### Oil Red O Foam Cell Assay

Oil Red O (ORO) staining was used to observe and quantify the role of TRPV4 in the internalization of lipid. ORO is a fat-soluble dye that stains lipids red and can indicate macrophage internalization of oxLDL, and therefore, the formation of foam cells. First, RAW cells were treated with/without GSK219 (5  $\mu$ M) and oxLDL (50  $\mu$ g/mL) and incubated overnight. The following day the cells were washed and then fixed with 10% phosphate-buffered formalin before staining with ORO (0.2%) until saturation. Images were examined using Zeiss Axio Observer with the 40x objective to determine the percent foam cell development for each control and experimental group.

### oxLDL Binding and Uptake Assay

DiI-fluorescently labeled oxLDL (DiI-oxLDL) was observed in models with/without GSK219 (10 and 50  $\mu$ M) and DiI-oxLDL (5  $\mu$ g/mL) to assess whether TRPV4 modulates the binding of oxLDL in RAW cells. RAW cells were seeded and incubated with select wells treated with GSK219 at the various concentrations. Then, on ice, DiI-oxLDL was added to selected wells and remained on the ice for 2 hours before fixation with 10% formalin. Fluorescent images were viewed with Zeiss Axio Observer at 40x and quantified using ImageJ software.

DiI-oxLDL was similarly used to assess whether TRPV4 regulates the uptake of oxLDL in RAW cells. RAW cells were seeded and incubated with select wells treated with GSK219 (20  $\mu$ M). Then, at room temperature, DiI-oxLDL (5  $\mu$ g/mL) was added to all wells and returned to the incubator. At specific intervals (10 min, 30 min, 60 min), select wells were washed with PBS and fixed with 10% formalin. Fluorescent images were viewed with Zeiss Axio Observer at 40x and quantified by ImageJ software.

## **Statistics**

All data is presented as means  $\pm$  SEM. The Student's t-test was used to relate the control and experimental groups statistically. SigmaPlot 13 software (Systat Software, San Jose, CA) was used with p-values of 0.05 to determine statistical significance.

# Chapter 5: Results TRPV4 is expressed and functional in RAW Cells

Recent publications (12), confirmed in-house through immunostaining, examined the expression profile of TRPV4 in RAW cells to better understand the contributory role of this calcium channel in macrophage foam cell formation. In addition to confirming RAW cell TRPV4 expression, pgLPS was used as a physiological inflammatory stimulus during immunostaining in order to observe a potential channel regulator. As a result, the pgLPS provided an increased expression of TRPV4 in a dose-dependent manner (data not shown). Taken together, research shows TRPV4 is expressed in RAW cells, and there is a channel upregulation in the presence of pgLPS.

Determining the functional extent of the TRPV4 calcium channel was conducted through assays in the presence of TRPV4 agonists and antagonists. Measurements of  $Ca^{2+}$  influx induced by the selective TRPV4 agonist GSK101 were analyzed to test whether TRPV4 channel activation functionally induces  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in RAW cells (18). A rapid (within 20-50 seconds) concentration-dependent increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in RAW cells in response to GSK101 stimulation ( $EC_{50} = 2.5$  nM) was detected (Fig. 1A, 1B), supporting earlier research (12). However, it was also observed that  $Ca^{2+}$  influx is significantly inhibited in RAW cells when under pretreatment with selective TRPV4 channel function when compared to the untreated model ( $EC_{50} = 2.5$  nM), and exposed the inhibitory effect while under GSK101 concentrations four times greater than the  $EC_{50}$  at 10 nM (Fig. 1C, 1D). These results indicate that the TRPV4 channel is not only expressed but is highly functional in RAW cells as evidence by the mediation of cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  influx.



**Figure 1:** TRPV4  $Ca^{2+}$  influx functional response in RAW cells. RAW cells were compared for their  $Ca^{2+}$  influx response to TRPV4 specific agonist and antagonists over 200 seconds. A) GSK101 (1, 10, 100, 1000 nM) treatments show a dose-dependent increase in  $Ca^{2+}$  influx. B) Quantitation of the  $Ca^{2+}$  influx response resulted in a dose-dependent response with  $EC_{50} = 2.5$ nM. C) GSK101(10 nM) causes  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in RAW cells which is inhibited by its antagonist, GSK219 (10 nM, 100 nM, 1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 100  $\mu$ M). D) Quantitation of  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in the presence of GSK101 and GSK219 exhibits an  $IC_{50} = 5.2$  nM. Calcium ionophore A23187 (A-23) was used as a positive control.

### TRPV4 modulates macrophage migration over 24 hours

Atherosclerosis requires macrophage migration from circulating plasma through the vessel walls. As such, a scratch assay was performed to determine if functional TRPV4 influences RAW cell migration by blocking the TRPV4 channel via chemical antagonist. After 24 hours migrated cells were counted and adjusted for the variance in scratch width. Illustrations at 40x magnification show after 24 hours a dose-dependent decrease according to the pretreatment concentration of TRPV4 antagonist GSK219 (Fig. 2A). Quantitation of migrated cells from the scratch assay further exposes that blocking the TRPV4 channel with GSK219 will significantly abrogate RAW cell migration over 24 hours (Fig. 2B). This scratch assay shows

that a functional TRPV4 channel is essential for RAW cell migration and that blocking the channel significantly inhibits cell movement on plastic surface.

![](_page_30_Figure_1.jpeg)

0 NT 1μM 10μM 25μM GSK219

Μ 10 μΜ 25 μΜ (SK219

### TRPV4 modulates macrophage migratory characteristics over 6 hours

Individual macrophage migration characteristics were observed through microscopic

time-lapse analysis. At least ten cells were tracked under each condition of various concentrations of TRPV4 antagonist GSK219. Observations at 10x magnification began 3 hours after seeding, capturing images every 10 minutes, for a total of 6 hours (Fig. 3A). The process allowed the determination of a variety of macrophage migration characteristics affected by TRPV4 functionality. Polarized cells, as an indication of cell movement, were visually counted before and after the 6-hour migration (Fig. 3A). Quantitative analysis of the percentage of polarized cells per field before and after migration revealed an increase in cell polarization in samples treated with 10 µM GSK219 (Fig. 3B). Average distance and velocity were also measured in each of the ten tracked cells for each treatment condition. Analysis revealed that at earlier time points (up to 6 hours) the mean velocity and distance traveled by each cell increases accordingly to greater concentrations of GSK219 (Fig. 3C, 3D). Taken together, it appears that blocking the TRPV4 channel allows a rise in total cell polarization as well as critical migration functions such as distance and velocity.

![](_page_31_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_32_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 3:** Raw cell migration characteristics influenced by TRPV4 inhibition. RAW cells were observed and analyzed under various TRPV4 antagonist concentrations using time-lapse microscopy. A) Samples were pretreated with GSK219 (2  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) and compared to the untreated control (NT) after 6 hours. B) Percent cell polarization was visually inspected and quantified. Though there were notable increases in cell polarization after 6 hours in the untreated and the 10  $\mu$ M GSK219 groups, the effect was not seen in the 2  $\mu$ M GSK219 group. The analysis remains inconclusive, and no statistical conclusions could be made. C) Cell coordinates were tracked every 10 minutes to determine the group pretreated with 10  $\mu$ M GSK219 traveled statistically further distance ( $\mu$ m) than the untreated group (p < 0.05). D) The average distance traveled for each tracked cell over 6 hours determined the average velocity ( $\mu$ m/min). Similar to the average distance traveled, the average velocity was statistically greater in the group pretreated with 10  $\mu$ M GSK219 as compared to the untreated group (\*p < 0.05). E) Raw cell 6-hour migration 2-dimentional trajectories give a visual perspective of how far each cell travels outside of its original x,y coordinate.

# **TRPV4** influences macrophage migration patterns under varied stiffness matrices

Since atherosclerosis causes changes in arterial matrix stiffness and TRPV4 is a matrix stiffness sensitive (mechanosensitive) ion channel, the role of TRPV4 in macrophage migration under variable substrate stiffness was examined. Individual RAW cell migration patterns under various stiffness matrices with or without TRPV4 antagonist GSK219 was observed through microscopic time-lapse analysis. 7-10 cells were tracked under each condition of 0.5 kPa stiffness, 8.0 kPa stiffness, and 8.0 kPa stiffness with GSK219 (10 µM). Observations at 10x magnification began 3 hours after seeding, capturing images every 10 minutes, for a total of 6 hours (Fig. 4A). The process allowed the determination of a variety of macrophage migration patterns affected by substrate stiffness and GSK219 TRPV4 inhibition. Polarized cells were visually counted before and after the 6-hour migration (Fig. 4A). No cellular polarization was

observed in the lowest stiffness (0.5 kPa) before or after the trial (Fig. 4A). Quantitative analysis of the percentage of polarized cells per field before and after migration was statistically inconclusive potentially due to a low number of cells counted (Fig. 4B). The average distance and velocity were also measured in each treatment condition. Analysis revealed that the mean velocity and distance traveled by each cell is statistically higher in the 8.0 kPa sample pretreated with GSK219 when compared to the untreated 8.0 kPa sample (Fig. 4C, 4D). There was also a significant difference in velocity and distance traveled between the two untreated stiffness matrices; over 6 hours the cells grown on the lower stiffness had a greater average velocity and distance traveled (Fig. 4C, 4D). Altogether, the results show that blocking the TRPV4 channel potentiates an increase in migration within the first 6 hours of adherence to 8.0 kPa substrate; furthermore, this data suggests a slight increase in migration distance and velocity by decreasing substrate stiffness from 8.0 kPa to 0.5 kPa.

![](_page_33_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_34_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 4: Raw cell migration characteristics influenced by substrate stiffness. RAW cells were observed and analyzed under various stiffness matrices using time-lapse microscopy. A) RAW cells were grown on different stiffness gels (0.5 kPa and 8.0 kPa) with one sample pretreated with GSK219 (10  $\mu$ M) and observed over 6 hours. B) Percent cell polarization was visually inspected and quantified. No cellular polarization was found at any time for the 0.5 kPa sample, and only a small increase occurred in the untreated 8.0 kPa sample. The polarization analysis remains inconclusive, and no statistical conclusions could be made. C) Cell positions were tracked every 10 minutes to determine that the 8.0 kPa stiffness with GSK219 (10  $\mu$ M) group traveled a further distance ( $\mu$ m) than the untreated 8.0 kPa group (\*p < 0.05). A significant difference in average total distance traveled was observed between substrates 0.5 kPa and untreated 8.0 kPa (\*p < 0.05). D) The average distance traveled for each tracked cell over 6 hours determined the average velocity ( $\mu$ m/min). Similar to the average distance traveled, the average velocity was statistically greater between the treated 8.0 kPa group (\*p < 0.05). E) Raw cell 6-hour migration 2dimentional trajectories give a visual perspective of how far each cell travels outside of its original x,y coordinate.

### Macrophage foam cell formation is reliant on TRPV4-elicited $Ca^{2+}$ influx

It has been shown that TRPV4 can influence force-dependent cytoskeletal modifications

(22); therefore, it was hypothesized that TRPV4 likely has a contributing role in macrophage

phagocytosis and foam cell formation. RAW cells were stained with Oil Red O (which stains the neutral lipids) after pretreatment with oxLDL and TRPV4 specific antagonist GSK219 to block the channels function. The objective was to quantify the internalization of lipid under each condition. The assay shows foam cell formation in the presence of oxLDL as indicated by the intensity of red staining, and it is apparent that the intensity declines and foam cell development is abrogated when treated with GSK219 (Fig. 5A). Quantitation of lipid internalization shows a 60% decline between oxLDL and oxLDL+GSK219 samples (Fig. 5B). Collectively these findings indicate TRPV4-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx is a contributing function to foam cell formation.

![](_page_35_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 5: TRPV4 functional phagocytosis Oil Red O stain assay. RAW cells were plated on plastic wells  $\pm oxLDL$  (50  $\mu$ g/mL)  $\pm GSK219$  (5  $\mu$ M) for 24 hrs. A) Representative Oil Red O stained cells showing inhibition of foam cell formation by TRPV4 antagonism. B) Quantitation of foam cells presenting a significant decrease when treated with GSK219 (\*p < 0.001).

TRPV4-elicited Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in not required for oxLDL binding to macrophages Ligand-receptor binding is required for macrophage scavenging. To assess the role of
TRPV4 in oxLDL binding, RAW cells were exposed to a fluorophore (DiI)-tagged form of
oxLDL (DiI-oxLDL) and examined under confocal fluorescence microscopy. Visualization of
DiI-oxLDL on the macrophage membrane surface was used to determine the binding effect.
There were no apparent differences in oxLDL binding in samples inhibited by GSK219 when
compared to the untreated controls as evidence by the outer DiI-oxLDL surface ring in each sample condition (Fig. 6). As a result, binding of oxLDL in RAW cells is not dependent on TRPV4 channel activity as seen by pre-treatment with selective TRPV4 antagonist GSK219.

![](_page_36_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 6: Effects of TRPV4 antagonist on RAW cell DiI-oxLDL binding. RAW cells were pretreated under select conditions at 4° C to assess the role of TRPV4 in oxLDL binding: no DiI-oxLDL, DiI-oxLDL (5  $\mu$ g/mL), DiI-oxLDL + GSK219 (10 uM), DiI-oxLDL + GSK219 (50 uM). Fluorescence images at 63x are shown. Red indicates the DiI-oxLDL while blue represents DAPI nuclear staining. Outer binding rings are displayed in each condition treated with DiI-oxLDL indicating that binding is not affected by TRPV4 functions.

# TRPV4-elicited $Ca^{2+}$ influx regulates oxLDL uptake in macrophages

oxLDL uptake is the pillar of macrophage phagocytosis of modified lipids. RAW cells were pretreated with or without GSK219 and incubated with DiI-oxLDL at 37° C to assess the role of TRPV4 in the oxLDL uptake. Representative fluorescence microscopy images visualize the internalization of DiI-oxLDL as indicated by the red infiltration; furthermore, fluorescence intensity analysis through ImageJ quantified the labeled lipids. Macrophages treated with GSK219 showed significantly less DiI-oxLDL internalization after 10, 30, and 60 minutes compared to the untreated samples (Fig. 7A, 7B, 7C). The results indicate that TRPV4 is required for the uptake of oxLDL in RAW cells as seen by pre-treatment with selective TRPV4 antagonist GSK219.

![](_page_37_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 7: Effects of TRPV4 antagonist on RAW cell DiI-oxLDL uptake. RAW cells were pretreated with DiI-oxLDL ( $5 \mu g/mL$ )  $\pm GSK219$  (20 uM) to assess the role of TRPV4 in oxLDL uptake. Fluorescence images were captured at 40x after 10, 30, and 60 minutes of 37° C incubation. Red indicates the DiI-oxLDL while blue represents DAPI nuclear staining. A) Red fluorescence cellular infiltration is prominently displayed in untreated groups compared to GSK219 treated groups. The absence of DiI-oxLDL uptake in treated macrophages indicates uptake is affected by TRPV4 functions. B) Single macrophage representations of the treated and untreated 60-minute groups, closely illustrating DiI-oxLDL uptake. C) The bar graph exhibits mean cellular fluorescence of DiI-oxLDL uptake. Fluorescence intensity was analyzed using ImageJ software. Five random representative cells of each group were used for quantitation. The untreated macrophages had significant increases in fluorescence at 10 and 60 minutes compared to the GSK219 treated groups (\*p < 0.05).

### pgLPS stimulates TRPV4-mediated Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx

pgLPS (LPS derived from P. gingivalis) was used to test whether a physiological

inflammatory stimulus affects TRPV4-dependent Ca2+ influx. RAW cells were exposed to

various concentrations of pgLPS to measure TRPV4 cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx. Significant increases were detected in the treated cells as compared to the untreated group. pgLPS potentiates TRPV4-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in RAW cells in a dose-dependent manner (Fig. 8A, 8B). Samples were also treated with TRPV4 antagonist GSK219 alongside pgLPS. Results show that changes in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> are undetectable for samples treated with GSK219 as compared to the buffer control (Fig 8A, 8B). Antagonism of the TRPV4 channel with GSK219, selectively nullified pgLPS potentiation (Fig. 8A, 8B). These findings confirm that pgLPS stimulation potentiates TRPV4-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in RAW cells.

![](_page_38_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 8: RAW cell Ca2+ influx with and without the presence of pgLPS and GSK219. FlexStation measurements of RAW cell Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in the presence of pgLPS (10, 100, 1000 ng/mL) and GSK219 (100 nM) to determine the regulatory role of pgLPS on TRPV4 Ca<sup>2+</sup>. A) pgLPS pretreatment potentiates TRPV4-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in RAW cells. Antagonist GSK219 inhibits this effect. B) Quantitation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in the presence of GSK101 (5 nM) and GSK219 (100 nM), and pgLPS (10, 100, 1000 ng/mL). A significant increase in Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx was observed between samples with 1000 ng/mL pgLPS and those without pgLPS (\*p < 0.05).

### Chapter 6: Discussion

In this study, novel proatherogenic roles for TRPV4 are defined in macrophages. The findings show TRPV4 is expressed and functional in macrophages, TRPV4 modulates macrophage migratory characteristics, oxLDL uptake and foam cell formation is reliant on TRPV4-elicited Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, and the physiological inflammatory stimulus of pgLPS can mediate TRPV4 function. Collectively, these discoveries, for the first time, associate the TRPV4 channel with atherogenesis by identifying new regulators for macrophage oxLDL phagocytosis and migration that are essential to atherosclerosis.

Recent efforts have demonstrated TRPV4 expression and function in mouse macrophages (12). In addition, Scheraga et al. has shown TRPV4-elicited  $Ca^{2+}$  influx exacerbation after E. coli LPS treatment. Work here, in the form of functional calcium influx assays, using pgLPS, a physiologically relevant proatherogenic stimulus, support recent research (Figs. 1 and 8). Since it is known that pgLPS is a strong inflammatory stimulator (110) and is associated with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (10, 11, 107), its relationship to TRPV4 was investigated. Similar to Scheraga et al. findings, it was found that TRPV4-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx is potentiated by pgLPS stimulation.

Macrophages travel by a calcium-dependent process to the vascular lesion during atherogenesis (5, 8, 9, 14). Data presented here reveals, through time-lapse microscopy, a relationship between TRPV4 activity (calcium influx) and macrophage migration. The findings suggest that blocking TRPV4 function via GSK219 may increase macrophage polarization, distance, and velocity in the short-term, but may inhibit long-term motility (Figs. 2 and 3). We speculate that inhibition of TRPV4 activity may reduce the number of "trapped macrophages" in intimal areas during atherogenesis. This effect was replicated on a significantly lower stiffness of

8.0 kPa (Fig. 4). Together the results suggest a role for TRPV4 in macrophage migration but to which extent will require additional research.

It is known that macrophage phagocytosis of oxLDL and subsequent foam cell development is critical to atherogenesis (3-9). It is shown here, through Oil-Red-O staining and DiI-oxLDL assays, that macrophage oxLDL uptake and foam cell formation can be abrogated when exposed to TRPV4 antagonist GSK219 (Figs. 5 and 7); however, the same effect was not observed for oxLDL binding to macrophages (Fig. 6). Collectively, the data demonstrates TRPV4 has a contributing role in atherogenesis by regulating the development of foam cells possibly by regulating the uptake oxLDL but not the binding of oxLDL to cell surface.

This study persuasively shows the contributory role of TRPV4 in multiple macrophage atherogenic functions, but it is not without limitations. Most significant of which is the sole use of RAW cell in in vitro experimentation. RAW cells are an immortal, highly proliferative cell line derived from cancer cells. Although they can serve as a foundational model for mechanistic studies, there are significant differences between cultured cell line models and those harvested for ex vivo studies. Primary macrophages, harvested from bone marrow or peritoneum and differentiated and activated in vivo, would serve as a more relevant atherosclerosis model. Future studies from this laboratory will adopt an in vivo TRPV4 knockout model to reinforce these initial findings. Furthermore, this laboratory intends to develop a TRPV4 ApoE double knockout mouse model to translate previous research to dietary models better using high-fat diets. Work reported here mechanistically connects TRPV4 to atherosclerosis, but dietary influences on this model remain to be determined.

In summary, multiple in vitro assays was used to uncover a novel, atherogenic role of TRPV4 in macrophages. It was identified that the functions of the TRPV4 channel modulate

macrophage oxLDL phagocytosis and migration – two critical processes during atherogenesis. Further investigation of this connection could have profound therapeutic implications.

# **Chapter 7: Submitted Abstracts**

- 1. University of Maryland, Bioscience Day 2015; TRPV4 Calcium Channels Regulate Macrophage Foam Cell Formation
- 2. University of Maryland, Research Day 2016; Role of TRPV4 Ion Channels in Atherogenesis
- 3. University of Maryland, AGNR Annual Meeting 2016; Role of TRPV4 Ion Channels in Atherogenesis; Best Poster Award
- 4. University of Maryland, Bioscience Day 2016; Role of TRPV4 Ion Channels in Atherogenesis

# Bibliography

- 1. Centers for Disease Control. (2015). Coronary Artery Disease (CAD). Retrieved August 22, 2016, from http://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/coronary\_ad.htm
- Global, regional, and national age–sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. (2015). The Lancet, 385(9963), 117-171.
- 3. Ross, R. (1993). The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: A perspective for the 1990s. Nature, 362(6423), 801-809.
- 4. Stocker, R. (2004). Role of Oxidative Modifications in Atherosclerosis. Physiological Reviews, 84(4), 1381-1478.
- 5. Tabas, I. (2010). Macrophage death and defective inflammation resolution in atherosclerosis. Nature Reviews. Immunology, 48, 1, 36.
- 6. Tabas, I. (2010). The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in the progression of atherosclerosis. Circulation Research, 107, 7, 839-50.
- Stary, H. C., Chandler, A. B., Glagov, S., Guyton, J. R., Insull, W., Rosenfeld, M. E., ... Wissler, R. W. (1994). A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation, 89(5), 2462-2478.
- 8. Murray, P. J., & Wynn, T. A. (2011). Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol Nature Reviews Immunology, 11(11), 723-737.
- 9. Nunes, P., & Demaurex, N. (2010). The role of calcium signaling in phagocytosis. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 88(1), 57-68.
- 10. Dietrich T, Sharma P, Walter C, Weston P, Beck J. (2013). The epidemiological evidence behind the association between periodontitis and incident atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. J Periodontol. 84: S70–84.
- Lockhart PB, Bolger AF, Papapanou PN, Osinbowale O, Trevisan M, Levison ME, et al. (2012). Periodontal disease and atherosclerotic vascular disease: does the evidence support an independent association: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 125: 2520–2544.
- Scheraga, R. G., Abraham, S., Niese, K. A., Southern, B. D., Grove, L. M., Hite, R. D., . . Olman, M. A. (2015). TRPV4 Mechanosensitive Ion Channel Regulates Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated Macrophage Phagocytosis. The Journal of Immunology, 196(1), 428-436.
- 13. Murray, P. J., & Wynn, T. A. (2011). Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol Nature Reviews Immunology, 11(11), 723-737.
- 14. Melendez, A., & Tay, H. (2008). Phagocytosis: A repertoire of receptors and Ca2 as a key second messenger. Bioscience Reports Biosci. Rep., 28(5), 287.
- Rahaman, S. O., Lennon, D. J., Febbraio, M., Podrez, E. A., Hazen, S. L., & Silverstein, R. L. (2006). A CD36-dependent signaling cascade is necessary for macrophage foam cell formation. Cell Metabolism, 4, 3, 211-221.

- Everaerts, W., Nilius, B., & Owsianik, G. (2010). The vanilloid transient receptor potential channel TRPV4: from structure to disease. Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology, 103, 1, 2-17.
- Gevaert, T., Vriens, J., Segal, A., Everaerts, W., Roskams, T., Talavera, K., Owsianik, G., ... Nilius, B. (2007). Deletion of the transient receptor potential cation channel TRPV4 impairs murine bladder voiding. The Journal of Clinical Investigation,117, 11, 3453-62.
- 18. Thorneloe, K. S., Sulpizio, A. C., Lin, Z., Figueroa, D. J., Clouse, A. K., McCafferty, G. P., Chendrimada, T. P., ... Westfall, T. D. (2008). N-((1S)-1-{[4-((2S)-2-{[(2,4-dichlorophenyl)sulfonyl]amino}-3-hydroxypropanoyl)-1-piperazinyl]carbonyl}-3-methylbutyl)-1-benzothiophene-2-carboxamide (GSK1016790A), a novel and potent transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 channel agonist induces urinary bladder contraction and hyperactivity: Part I. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 326, 2, 432-42.
- Tian, W., Salanova, M., Xu, H., Lindsley, J. N., Oyama, T. T., Anderson, S., Bachmann, S., ... Cohen, D. M. (2004). Renal expression of osmotically responsive cation channel TRPV4 is restricted to water-impermeant nephron segments. American Journal of Physiology. Renal Physiology, 287, 1, 17-24.
- 20. Lorenzo, I. M., Liedtke, W., Sanderson, M. J., & Valverde, M. A. (2008). TRPV4 channel participates in receptor-operated calcium entry and ciliary beat frequency regulation in mouse airway epithelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105, 34, 12611-6.
- Masuyama, R., Vriens, J., Voets, T., Karashima, Y., Owsianik, G., Vennekens, R., Lieben, L., ... Carmeliet, G. (2008). TRPV4-mediated calcium influx regulates terminal differentiation of osteoclasts. Cell Metabolism, 8, 3, 257-65.
- Rahaman, S. O., Grove, L. M., Paruchuri, S., Southern, B. D., Abraham, S., Niese, K. A., ... Olman, M. A. (2014). TRPV4 mediates myofibroblast differentiation and pulmonary fibrosis in mice. Journal of Clinical Investigation J. Clin. Invest., 124(12), 5225-5238.
- 23. Han, H. (2012). Twisted Blood Vessels: Symptoms, Etiology and Biomechanical Mechanisms. J Vasc Res Journal of Vascular Research, 49(3), 185-197.
- 24. Glass, C. K., & Witztum, J. L. (2001). Atherosclerosis: the road ahead. Cell, 104, 4, 503-16.
- 25. Lusis, A. J. (January 01, 2000). Atherosclerosis. Nature, 407, 6801, 233-41.
- 26. Libby P. (2002). Inflammation in atherosclerosis. Nature. 2002 Dec 19-26; 420 (6917):868-74.
- Martin, S. S., Blaha, M. J., Blankstein, R., Agatston, A., Rivera, J. J., Virani, S. S., ... Nasir, K. (2013). Dyslipidemia, Coronary Artery Calcium, and Incident Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular DiseaseClinical Perspective. Circulation, 129(1), 77-86.
- 28. Ross R, Glomset J, Harker L. (1977). Response to injury and atherogenesis. Am J Pathol. 1977;86:675-684.
- 29. Dicorleto, P. E., & Soyombo, A. A. (1993). The role of the endothelium in atherogenesis. Current Opinion in Lipidology, 4(5), 364-372.

- 30. Williams, K. J., & Tabas, I. (1995). The response-to-retention hypothesis of early atherogenesis. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 15, 5, 551-61.
- Lin S-J, Hong C-Y, Chang M-S, Chiang BN, Chien S. (1992). Long-term nicotine exposure increases aortic endothelial cell death and enhances transendothelial macromolecular transport in rats. Arterioscler Thromb. 12:1305-1312.
- 32. Nordestgaard BG, Nielsen LB. (1994). Atherosclerosis and arterial influx of lipoproteins. Curr Opin Lipidol. 5:252-257.
- 33. Schwenke DC, Carew TE. (1989). Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits, I: focal increases in arterial LDL concentration precede development of fatty streak lesions. Arteriosclerosis. 1989; 9:895-907.
- 34. Li, X., Fang, P., Li, Y., Kuo, Y., Andrews, A. J., Nanayakkara, G., . . . Yang, X. (2016). Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate Lysophosphatidylcholine-Induced Endothelial Cell ActivationHighlights. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 36(6), 1090-1100.
- 35. Catapano, A. L., Maggi, F. M., & Tragni, E. (2000). Low density lipoprotein oxidation, antioxidants, and atherosclerosis. Current Opinion in Cardiology, 15(5), 355-363.
- 36. de Graaf J, Hak-Lemmers HL, Hectors MP, Demacker PN, Hendriks JC, Stalenhoef AF. (1991). Enhanced susceptibility to in vitro oxidation of the dense low density lipoprotein subfraction in healthy subjects. Arterioscler Thromb. 11:298–306.
- 37. Chancharme L, Therond P, Nigon F, Lepage S, Couturier M, Chapman MJ. (1999). Cholesteryl ester hydroperoxide lability is a key feature of the oxidative susceptibility of small, dense LDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 19:810–20.
- Ip S, Lichtenstein AH, Chung M, Lau J, Balk EM. (2009). Systematic review: association of low-density lipoprotein subfractions with cardiovascular outcomes. Ann Intern Med. 150:474–84.
- 39. Mestas, J., & Ley, K. (2008). Monocyte-endothelial cell interactions in the development of atherosclerosis. Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine, 18, 6, 228-32.
- 40. Halliwell B. (1988). Albumin—an important extracellular antioxidant? Biochem Pharmacol. 37:569-571.
- 41. van Berkel TJ, de Rijke YB, Kruijt JK. (1991). Different fate in vivo of oxidatively modified low density lipoprotein and acetylated low density lipoprotein in rats: recognition by various scavenger receptors on Kupffer and endothelial liver cells. J Biol Chem. 266:2282-2289.
- Perrin-Cocon, L., Coutant, F., Agaugue, S., Deforges, S., Andre, P., & Lotteau, V. (2001). Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Promotes Mature Dendritic Cell Transition from Differentiating Monocyte. The Journal of Immunology, 167(7), 3785-3791.
- 43. Stocker, R. (1992). Free radical oxidation of low-density lipoprotein lipids and antioxidants. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology, 24(11), Xii.
- 44. Wang, W., Hein, T. W., Zhang, C., Zawieja, D. C., Liao, J. C., & Kuo, L. (2010). Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Inhibits Nitric Oxide-Mediated Coronary Arteriolar Dilation by Up-regulating Endothelial Arginase I. Microcirculation, 18(1), 36-45.

- 45. Schwartz CJ1, Valente AJ, Sprague EA, Kelley JL, Cayatte AJ, Mowery J. (1992). Atherosclerosis. Potential targets for stabilization and regression. Circulation. Dec;86(6 Suppl):III117-23.
- 46. Oh, J., Riek, A. E., Weng, S., Petty, M., Kim, D., Colonna, M., . . . Bernal-Mizrachi, C. (2012). Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Controls M2 Macrophage Differentiation and Foam Cell Formation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 287(15), 11629-11641.
- 47. Porcheray, F., Viaud, S., Rimaniol, A., Leone, C., Samah, B., Dereuddre-Bosquet, N., ... Gras, G. (2005). Macrophage activation switching: An asset for the resolution of inflammation. Clinical and Experimental Immunology Clin Exp Immunol, 0(0), 051006055454001.
- 48. Mosser, D. M., & Edwards, J. P. (2010). Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol Nature Reviews Immunology, 10(6), 460-460.
- 49. Hotamisligil, G. S. (2010). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and atherosclerosis. Nature Medicine Nat Med, 16(4), 396-399.
- 50. Sprague, A. H., & Khalil, R. A. (2009). Inflammatory cytokines in vascular dysfunction and vascular disease. Biochemical Pharmacology, 78(6), 539-552.
- 51. Kamei, M., & Carman, C. V. (2010). New observations on the trafficking and diapedesis of monocytes. Current Opinion in Hematology, 17(1), 43-52.
- Auffray, C., Fogg, D., Garfa, M., Elain, G., Join-Lambert, O., Kayal, S., . . . Geissmann, F. (2007). Monitoring of Blood Vessels and Tissues by a Population of Monocytes with Patrolling Behavior. Science, 317(5838), 666-670.
- 53. Vérollet, C., Charrière, G. M., Labrousse, A., Cougoule, C., Cabec, V. L., & Maridonneau-Parini, I. (2011). Extracellular proteolysis in macrophage migration: Losing grip for a breakthrough. European Journal of Immunology Eur. J. Immunol., 41(10), 2805-2813.
- 54. Lauffenburger, D. A., & Horwitz, A. F. (1996). Cell Migration: A Physically Integrated Molecular Process. Cell, 84(3), 359-369.
- 55. Sellers, J. R. (2000). Myosins: A diverse superfamily. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Cell Research, 1496(1), 3-22.
- 56. Ridley, A. (2011). Life at the Leading Edge. Cell, 145(7), 1012-1022.
- 57. Chhabra, E. S., & Higgs, H. N. (2007). The many faces of actin: Matching assembly factors with cellular structures. Nature Cell Biology Nat Cell Biol, 9(10), 1110-1121.
- 58. Goley, E. D., & Welch, M. D. (2006). The ARP2/3 complex: An actin nucleator comes of age. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 7(10), 713-726.
- 59. Suraneni, P., Rubinstein, B., Unruh, J. R., Durnin, M., Hanein, D., & Li, R. (2012). The Arp2/3 complex is required for lamellipodia extension and directional fibroblast cell migration. J Cell Biol The Journal of Cell Biology, 197(2), 239-251.
- 60. May R, Caron E, Hall A, Machesky LM. (2000). Involvement of the Arp2/3 complex in phagocytosis mediated by FcgammaR or CR3. Nat. Cell Biol. 2:246-248
- Linder S, Hufner K, Wintergerst U, Aepfelbacher M. (2000). Microtubule-dependent formation of podosomal adhesion structures in primary human macrophages. J. Cell Sci. 113(23):4165-4176

- 62. Huttenlocher, A. (1996). Modulation of cell migration by integrin-mediated cytoskeletal linkages and ligand-binding affinity. The Journal of Cell Biology, 134(6), 1551-1562.
- Allen, W. E., Zicha, D., Ridley, A. J., & Jones, G. E. (1998). A Role for Cdc42 in Macrophage Chemotaxis. J Cell Biol The Journal of Cell Biology, 141(5), 1147-1157.
- 64. Wheeler, A. P., & Ridley, A. J. (2007). RhoB affects macrophage adhesion, integrin expression and migration. Experimental Cell Research, 313(16), 3505-3516.
- Petrie, R. J., Doyle, A. D., & Yamada, K. M. (2009). Random versus directionally persistent cell migration. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 10(8), 538-549.
- 66. Iijima, M., Huang, Y. E., & Devreotes, P. (2002). Temporal and Spatial Regulation of Chemotaxis. Developmental Cell, 3(4), 469-478.
- 67. Haastert, P. J. (2010). Chemotaxis: Insights from the extending pseudopod. Journal of Cell Science, 123(18), 3031-3037.
- 68. Blakney, A. K., Swartzlander, M. D., & Bryant, S. J. (2012). The effects of substrate stiffness on the in vitro activation of macrophages and in vivo host response to poly(ethylene glycol)-based hydrogels. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A J. Biomed. Mater. Res., 100A(6), 1375-1386.
- 69. Miyamoto, S. (1995). Integrin function: Molecular hierarchies of cytoskeletal and signaling molecules. The Journal of Cell Biology, 131(3), 791-805.
- 70. Chrzanowska-Wodnicka, M. (1996). Rho-stimulated contractility drives the formation of stress fibers and focal adhesions. The Journal of Cell Biology, 133(6), 1403-1415.
- 71. Beningo, K. A., Dembo, M., Kaverina, I., Small, J. V., & Wang, Y. (2001). Nascent Focal Adhesions Are Responsible for the Generation of Strong Propulsive Forces in Migrating Fibroblasts. J Cell Biol The Journal of Cell Biology, 153(4), 881-888.
- Féréol, S., Fodil, R., Labat, B., Galiacy, S., Laurent, V. M., Louis, B., ... Planus, E. (2006). Sensitivity of alveolar macrophages to substrate mechanical and adhesive properties. Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton, 63(6), 321-340.
- 73. Hind, L. E., Dembo, M., & Hammer, D. A. (2015). Macrophage motility is driven by frontal-towing with a force magnitude dependent on substrate stiffness. Integr. Biol., 7(4), 447-453.
- 74. Rougerie, P., Miskolci, V., & Cox, D. (2013). Generation of membrane structures during phagocytosis and chemotaxis of macrophages: Role and regulation of the actin cytoskeleton. Immunol Rev Immunological Reviews, 256(1), 222-239.
- 75. Maxfield, F. R., & Tabas, I. (2005). Role of cholesterol and lipid organization in disease. Nature, 438, 7068, 612-21.
- 76. Platt, N., & Gordon, S. (2001). Is the class A macrophage scavenger receptor (SR-A) multifunctional? The mouse's tale. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 108, 5, 649-54.
- 77. Silverstein, R.L., and Febbraio, M. (2000). CD36 and atherosclerosis. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 11, 483-491.
- 78. Belikoff, B. G., Hatfield, S., Georgiev, P., Ohta, A., Lukashev, D., Buras, J. A., ... Sitkovsky, M. (2011). A2B Adenosine Receptor Blockade Enhances Macrophage-Mediated Bacterial Phagocytosis and Improves Polymicrobial Sepsis Survival in Mice. The Journal of Immunology, 186(4), 2444-2453.

- 79. Kunjathoor, V. V., Febbraio, M., Podrez, E. A., Moore, K. J., Andersson, L., Koehn, S., Rhee, J. S., ... Freeman, M. W. (2002). Scavenger receptors class A-I/II and CD36 are the principal receptors responsible for the uptake of modified low density lipoprotein leading to lipid loading in macrophages. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 277, 51, 49982-8.
- Febbraio, M., Podrez, E. A., Smith, J. D., Hajjar, D. P., Hazen, S. L., Hoff, H. F., Sharma, K., ... Silverstein, R. L. (January 01, 2000). Targeted disruption of the class B scavenger receptor CD36 protects against atherosclerotic lesion development in mice. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 105, 8, 1049-56.
- Collot-Teixeira, S., Martin, J., McDermott-Roe, C., Poston, R., & McGregor, J. L. (January 01, 2007). CD36 and macrophages in atherosclerosis. Cardiovascular Research, 75, 3, 468-77.
- 82. Jimenez B, Volpert OV, Crawford SE, Febbraio M, Silverstein RL, Bouck N. (2000). Signals leading to apoptosisdependent inhibition of neovascularization by thrombospondin-1. Nat Med 6:41–48.
- Moore, K. J., El, K. J., Medeiros, L. A., Terada, K., Geula, C., Luster, A. D., & Freeman, M. W. (2002). A CD36-initiated signaling cascade mediates inflammatory effects of betaamyloid. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 277, 49, 47373-9.
- Bamberger ME, Harris ME, McDonald DR, Husemann J, Landreth GE. (2003). A cell surface receptor complex for fibrillar beta-amyloid mediates microglial activation. J Neurosci 23:2665–2674.
- Tang, L., El-Din, T. G., Payandeh, J., Martinez, G., Heard, T., Scheuer, T., . . . Catterall, W. (2013). Structural Basis for Ca2 Selectivity of a Voltage-gated Calcium Channel.
- Parekh, A. B. (2005). Store-Operated Calcium Channels. Physiological Reviews, 85(2), 757-810.
- 87. Li, Z., Dulyaninova, N. G., House, R. P., Almo, S. C., & Bresnick, A. R. (2010). S100A4 Regulates Macrophage Chemotaxis. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 21(15), 2598-2610.
- Tracqui, P., Broisat, A., Toczek, J., Mesnier, N., Ohayon, J., & Riou, L. (2011). Mapping elasticity moduli of atherosclerotic plaque in situ via atomic force microscopy. Journal of Structural Biology, 174(1), 115-123.
- 89. Friedl, P., & Weigelin, B. (2008). Interstitial leukocyte migration and immune function. Nature Immunology Nat Immunol, 9(9), 960-969.
- Beningo, K. A., Lo, C., & Wang, Y. (2002). Flexible polyacrylamide substrata for the analysis of mechanical interactions at cell-substratum adhesions. Methods in Cell Biology, 325-339.
- 91. Arroyo, A. G., & Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2010). Extracellular matrix, inflammation, and the angiogenic response. Cardiovascular Research, 86(2), 226-235.
- 92. Stroka, K. M., & Aranda-Espinoza, H. (2011). Endothelial cell substrate stiffness influences neutrophil transmigration via myosin light chain kinase-dependent cell contraction. Blood, 118(6), 1632-1640.
- 93. Janmey, P. A., Winer, J. P., Murray, M. E., & Wen, Q. (2009). The hard life of soft cells. Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton, 66(8), 597-605.
- 94. Brown, M. S., & Goldstein, J. L. (1997). The SREBP pathway: regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. Cell, 89, 3, 331-40.

- 95. Tall, A. R., Yvan-Charvet, L., Terasaka, N., Pagler, T., & Wang, N. (January 01, 2008). HDL, ABC transporters, and cholesterol efflux: implications for the treatment of atherosclerosis. Cell Metabolism, 7, 5, 365-75.
- 96. Tang, C., Liu, Y., Kessler, P. S., Vaughan, A. M., & Oram, J. F. (2009). The macrophage cholesterol exporter ABCA1 functions as an anti-inflammatory receptor. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 284, 47, 32336-43.
- 97. Barter, P. J. (2004). Antiinflammatory Properties of HDL. Circulation Research, 95(8), 764-772.
- Virmani, R., Burke, A. P., Kolodgie, F. D., & Farb, A. (January 01, 2002). Vulnerable plaque: the pathology of unstable coronary lesions. *Journal of Interventional Cardiology*, 15, 6, 439-46.
- 99. Maiolino G, Rossitto G, Caielli P, Bisogni V, Rossi GP, Calò LA. (2013). The role of oxidized low-density lipoproteins in atherosclerosis: the myths and the facts. Mediators Inflamm. 2013;2013: 714653.
- 100. Artom, N., Montecucco, F., Dallegri, F., & Pende, A. (2014). Carotid atherosclerotic plaque stenosis: The stabilizing role of statins. Eur J Clin Invest European Journal of Clinical Investigation, 44(11), 1122-1134.
- 101. Miller, J. D. (2013). Cardiovascular calcification: Orbicular origins. Nature Materials Nat Mater, 12(6), 476-478.
- 102. Ross, R. (1996). Atherosclerosis an inflammatory disease. Fibrinolysis, 10, 44.
- 103. Finn, A. V., Nakano, M., Narula, J., Kolodgie, F. D., & Virmani, R. (2010). Concept of Vulnerable/Unstable Plaque. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 30(7), 1282-1292.
- 104. Boyle, J. J., Weissberg, P. L., & Bennett, M. R. (2003). Tumor necrosis factoralpha promotes macrophage-induced vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis by direct and autocrine mechanisms. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23, 9, 1553-8.
- 105. Galis, Z. S., Sukhova, G. K., Lark, M. W., & Libby, P. (1994). Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 94*, 6, 2493-503.
- 106. Asmis, R. (2005). Lipoprotein aggregation protects human monocyte-derived macrophages from OxLDL-induced cytotoxicity. The Journal of Lipid Research, 46(6), 1124-1132.
- 107. Schenkein HA, Loos BG. (2013). Inflammatory mechanisms linking periodontal diseases to cardiovascular diseases. J Periodontol. 84: S51–69.
- 108. Socransky S.S., Haffajee A.D., Cugini M.A., Smith C., Kent R.L., Jr. (1998). Microbial complexes in subgingival plaque. J. Clin. Periodontal. 25:134–144.
- 109. Huck O, Saadi-Thiers K, Tenenbaum H, Davideau J-L, Romagna C, Laurent Y, et al. (2011). Evaluating periodontal risk for patients at risk of or suffering from atherosclerosis: recent biological hypotheses and therapeutic consequences. Archives of Cardiovascular Diseases. 2011;104: 352–358.

- 110. Bostanci N., Belibasakis G.N. (2012). Porphyromonas gingivalis: An invasive and evasive opportunistic oral pathogen. FEMS Microbial. Lett. 333:1–9.
- 111. Coats, S. R., Jones, J. W., Do, C. T., Braham, P. H., Bainbridge, B. W., To, T. T., . . . Darveau, R. P. (2009). Human Toll-like receptor 4 responses toP. gingivalisare regulated by lipid A 1- and 4 -phosphatase activities. Cellular Microbiology, 11(11), 1587-1599.
- Hayashi C, Viereck J, Hua N, Phinikaridou A, Madrigal AG, Gibson FC, et al. (2011). Porphyromonas gingivalis accelerates inflammatory atherosclerosis in the innominate artery of ApoE deficient mice. Atherosclerosis. 215: 52–59.
- 113. Hashimoto M., Kadowaki T., Tsukuba T., Yamamoto K. (2006). Selective proteolysis of apolipoprotein B-100 by Arg-gingipain mediates atherosclerosis progression accelerated by bacterial exposure. J. Biochem. 140:713–723.
- 114. Bengtsson T., Karlsson H., Gunnarsson P., Skoglund C., Elison C., Leanderson P., Lindahl M. (2008). The periodontal pathogen Porphyromonas gingivalis cleaves apoB-100 and increases the expression of apoM in LDL in whole blood leading to cell proliferation. J. Intern. Med. 263:558–571.
- 115. Miyakawa H, Honma K, Qi M, Kuramitsu HK. (2004). Interaction of Porphyromonas gingivalis with low-density lipoproteins: implications for a role for periodontitis in atherosclerosis. J Periodontal Res. 2004;39: 1–9.
- 116. Giacona MB, Papapanou PN, Lamster IB, Rong LL, D'Agati VD, Schmidt AM, et al. (2004). Porphyromonas gingivalis induces its uptake by human macrophages and promotes foam cell formation in vitro. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2004;241: 95–101.
- 117. Qi M, Miyakawa H, Kuramitsu HK. (2003). Porphyromonas gingivalis induces murine macrophage foam cell formation. Microb Pathog. 2003;35: 259–267.
- 118. Plant, T.D., Strotmann, R., 2007. Trpv4. Handb Exp. Pharmacol., 189-2005
- 119. Garcia-Elias, A., Mrkonjic, S., Jung, C., Pardo-Pastor, C., Vicente, R., and Valverde, M. A. (2014) The trpv4 channel. Handb. Exp Pharmacol. 222, 293-319
- 120. Denker, S. P., & Barber, D. L. (2002). Ion transport proteins anchor and regulate the cytoskeleton. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 14, 2, 214-220.
- D'hoedt, D., Owsianik, G., Prenen, J., Cuajungco, M. P., Grimm, C., Heller, S., . .
  Nilius, B. (2008). Stimulus-specific Modulation of the Cation Channel TRPV4 by PACSIN 3. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 283(10), 6272-6280.
- Garcia-Elias, A., Lorenzo, I. M., Vicente, R., & Valverde, M. A. (January 01, 2008). IP3 receptor binds to and sensitizes TRPV4 channel to osmotic stimuli via a calmodulin-binding site. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 283, 46, 31284-8.
- 123. Strotmann, R., Schultz, G., & Plant, T. D. (2003). Ca2+-dependent potentiation of the nonselective cation channel TRPV4 is mediated by a C-terminal calmodulin binding site. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278, 29, 26541-9.
- 124. Watanabe, H., Vriens, J., Suh, S. H., Benham, C. D., Droogmans, G., & Nilius, B. (2002). Heat-evoked activation of TRPV4 channels in a HEK293 cell expression system and in native mouse aorta endothelial cells. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 277, 49, 47044-51.

- 125. Thorneloe, K., et al. (2012). An Orally Active TRPV4 Channel Blocker Prevents and Resolves Pulmonary Edema Induced by Heart Failure. Sci Transl Med, 4(159):159ra148.
- 126. Liedtke, W. (October 01, 2005). TRPV4 as osmosensor: a transgenic approach.*Pflugers Archiv : European Journal of Physiology*, 451, 1, 176-180.
- 127. Watanabe, H., Vriens, J., Prenen, J., Droogmans, G., Voets, T., & Nilius, B. (2003). Anandamide and arachidonic acid use epoxyeicosatrienoic acids to activate TRPV4 channels. *Nature*, 424, 6947, 434-8.
- 128. Cuajungco, M. P., Grimm, C., Oshima, K., D'hoedt, D., Nilius, B., Mensenkamp, A. R., Bindels, R. J., ... Heller, S. (2006). PACSINs bind to the TRPV4 cation channel. PACSIN 3 modulates the subcellular localization of TRPV4. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281, 27, 18753-62.
- 129. Suzuki, M., Hirao, A., & Mizuno, A. (2003). Microtubule-associated [corrected] protein 7 increases the membrane expression of transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4). The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278, 51, 51448-53.
- 130. Becker, D., Bereiter-Hahn, J., & Jendrach, M. (January 01, 2009). Functional interaction of the cation channel transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) and actin in volume regulation. European Journal of Cell Biology, 88, 3, 141-52.
- 131. Moran, M. M., Mcalexander, M. A., Bíró, T., & Szallasi, A. (2011). Transient receptor potential channels as therapeutic targets. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery Nat Rev Drug Discov, 10(8), 601-620.
- 132. Tsien, R., & Pozzan, T. (1989). Measurement of cytosolic free Ca2 with quin2. Biomembranes Part S Methods in Enzymology, 230-262.